FILED SIDJ WHITE Bruf

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

#### **FACTS**

During May, 1987, respondent represented Ms. Marylou Ramm as plaintiff in a personal injury action brought as a result of injuries she sustained in an automobile accident in 1984. discharged her former attorneys prior to retaining the respondent who was virtually on leave from his office due to his campaigning against David Dinkins for the Presidency of Manhattan. His office was monitored by another attorney who was in contact regularly with the respondent. Ms. Ramm testified at the New York disciplinary hearing that in 1984 she was involved in a car accident while stalled on the Long Island Expressway. Her five year old son was seated next to her. She was the operator. A car had cut her off which compelled her to jam on her brakes. Her car hydroplaned, spun around and came to a stop across the lanes of the highway facing the median. Her son, who was asleep, was slumped over in his seat. She attempted to reach him in order to reposition him but could not reach him because she was restrained by her shoulder-lap seat belt. (Respondent has since learned that is an impossibility in her Toyota or in any car before or since - because one can reach the floor of the passenger side since the belt is relaxed when the car is not running). She unfastened her seat belt and straightened She attempted to move her car but her car had stalled. While again attempting to start her car and while cars were going

around her car, her car was struck by the defendant's vehicle. The car that cut her off fled the scene.

An important issue in the case was (1) the time of the interval between her car coming to a stop and (2) the time it was struck.

One year after the accident and before ever retaining the respondent Ms. Ramm had filed a Motor Vehicle report in which was a statement signed by her that her car stopped and stalled and "moments <u>later"</u> her car was struck. Prior to this testimony respondent went over parts of her likely testimony with her. Ms. Ramm was unsure of the exact time of the interval or its legal significance. Respondent explained to her that if only two or five seconds elapsed she would not prevail on her claim; if the interval was 20, 30 or 40 seconds or more, she would succeed, if she was When Ms. Ramm pressed respondent as to how she should answer a question about the time interval, respondent told her to say, "Nothing but the truth." She eventually testified that the time interval was "about 30 seconds." Based on her testimony Ms. Ramm reached a substantial settlement in her favor in the personal injury matter.

Her testimony at the New York disciplinary hearing was that respondent told her to testify that the time interval was thirty seconds, even though she believed it to be only 10-12 to 15 seconds.

As entered into the record of respondent's disciplinary hearing by respondent, the conversation with Ms. Ramm went as follows: "I said, 'because Marylou (Ms. Ramm) this is the theory: If you were hit two seconds later, you lose, even though the guy is dead. If you were hit maybe ten seconds later, you might win. If you were hit 20 seconds later, you will probably win; 30 seconds later, forty-seconds later, the idea is how long you were there. That is what is important in your case and nobody can tell you that because you have to explain it and you are going to be asked that question sometime and then you might be asked sometime at trial after you testify here. What did you mean by the word, "moments" when you made that statement?

In the New York disciplinary proceeding respondent was found guilty of "instructing a client to give testimony that the attorney knew to be false". (He was also found guilty upon his own admission of keeping his escrow records negligently with no self-dealing and with no venality and with no harm to a client. (No one had complained but there was a random review of respondent's records.) After first disbarring the respondent, the court, upon reconsideration, but without regard to his age (70) in December 1993 suspended him for five years. California and Florida then filed reciprocal charges against him. California granted the respondent a de novo review, examined all the evidence and read the entire transcript and found insufficient evidence under California's standard of "clear and convincing" evidence. New York had employed its

standard of "preponderance of the evidence" and that is what this case focuses on. Does Florida apply its Rule 3.4-6 to respondent summarily or does it not? It should also be noted as of July 7, 1994 the California Supreme Court issued an Order affirming the Order of the State Bar Court of California and that court's findings and diciplined: dismissing the Ramm charge and ordering the respondent suspended on its guilty finding in the escrow charge for one year retroactive to January 13, 1994, the date of commencement of its hearing. There need not be any application for reinstatement but there shall be five years probation. Respondent, under California law, must take and pass the MPRE examination of August, 1994.

#### **ISSUE**

On February 14, 1994 the Hon. Herbert Moriarity, as Referee, reported to this court that he did not accept respondent's argument that Due Process was lacking in New York, but he does not know ("It is unclear") if Rule 3.4-6 should apply to the respondent. The respondent argues that he was denied Due Process in New York and also that the rule does not apply to him.

Rule 3.4-6, provides: A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying

disciplinary action shall be considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule.

It is noteworthy that the Referee did not, as he stated, hear any witnesses, examine any evidence or read the New York transcripts but based his ruling solely on Rule 3.4-6. California did not rule on the constitutionality of the proceedings in New York, i.e. whether or not the New York standard of preponderance deprived the respondent of Due Process but did rule on the question of whether its reciprocal rule, which is basically identical to Rule 3.4-6, should apply to respondent. It ruled that its reciprocal rule did not apply to respondent, and then it found the respondent not quilty. (In line exactly with the holding and rationale of Jaskiewicz, infra.) As stated, California, as in Jaskiewicz, reviewed everything de novo after concluding that it could not, in good conscience, accept the proof in the New York judgment which was of the lesser exacting standard.

Here, the respondent presses the constitutionality as the premier question and also respectfully asks the court to rule as quickly as possible. Respondent is still unemployed, has been unable to find any employment, and has been reduced to penury. A late resolution will probably be not much practical help to respondent although its academic beacon will illuminate the entire profession — not only in Florida but for lawyers and judges across the entire United States.

(Since this review is not by a jury, I might suggest to each one of you judges (and I was a judge) to picture whether your life would be worth living if you were innocent, as I am, and you had a son still in college, and this happened to you.) I also ask this court to remove the restriction that I agreed to with the Florida Bar and which you approved of a month ago. That is: Since I was asking for a two month adjournment, I agreed to remove myself from active practice until the determination in this case. I ask the court to allow me back in active practice once the Bar submits its brief. You can now see my reason to agree: I did not yet have the "final adjudication" from California and I certainly believed that a sister state life California, with whom you have exchanged and copied many disciplinary and ethical formulas and rules, would be given greater respect by you that New York, which doesn't give a whit reciprocally about your holdings and your disciplinary impositions. It has repeatedly refused to admit or readmit applicants who have presented exemplary rehabilitation letters from Florida where they have been readmitted.

- 1) The standard of preponderance in New York disciplinary proceedings is a violation of the Due Process guarantees of the United States Constitution, and therefore, New York deprived respondent of Due Process.
- 2) Rule 3.4-6 does not apply to respondent under the principles of res judicata and collateral estoppel

and to apply it would violate the Equal Protection clause of the United States Constitution and the Interstate Commerce clause.

3) The procedure of New York proceedings violates the Due Process clause.

New York has ruled steadfastly and repeatedly, citing Matter of Capoccia, 15 N.Y. 2nd 549; 466 N.Y.S 2nd 269, (1983) that the standard in New York in disbarment proceedings is "preponderance of evidence." That court relied on Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, (1979).

Respondent submit that under <u>Addington</u> and under <u>Mathews v.</u>
<u>Eldridge</u>, 424 U.S. 319, 335, (1976) and <u>Santosky</u> 455 U.S. 745, New
York is clearly wrong and has deprived the respondent of Due
Process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

<u>Santosky</u> at 754 reiterates what <u>Addington</u> stated, namely that there are three factors that need to be balanced:

The private interests affected by the proceeding: the risk of error created by the state's chosen procedure and the protection of the governmental or public interest.

Further in re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 544 (1968) the court stated:
Disbarment (even a two year suspension has been called

effective disbarment) is a 'punishment or penalty' imposed on the lawyer flowing from adversary proceedings of a quasi-criminal nature.

### and Ruffalo went on:

"Disbarment is a deprivation 'more substantial than mere loss of money' carrying with it 'stigma' involving allegations of fraud or <u>some other quasi-criminal wrongdoing</u>." (Emphasis supplied).

Other causes recite the importance attached to a lawyer's disciplinary proceedings and its <u>nature</u>.

In re Fisher, 179 F. 2nd 361; cert. denied 340 U.S. 825, the court quoted an Illinois court: The disbarment of an attorney is a destruction of his professional life, his character and his livelihood . . . Ruffalo also stated: "The gravity of the proceeding, namely, the quasi-criminal quality in such a proceeding and the punishment or penalty imposed on the lawyer requires a higher standard of proof"

There are many other cases in which the courts of this nation have labeled anything less than a clear and convincing standard in lawyer disciplinary proceedings a deprivation of Due Process.

The United States Constitution does not prescribe any standards of proof in any kind of case but the courts have established standards

of proof because certain kind of cases in order to meet the fairness principles of Due Process and the Anglo-American standard of fairness and substantial justice demand these standards.

Addington, supra.

The crux of New York's decision in <u>Capoccia</u> was that <u>Addington</u> applies to a "liberty" interest. The argument is with the <u>Capoccia</u> court's conclusion that a lawyer's license to practice law is "like a property interest" and <u>not</u> a liberty interest and is a civil case subject to the "preponderance" standard. The loss of a livelihood with stigma attached has long ago been determined to be a liberty interest, <u>Board of Regents v. Roth</u>, 408 U.S. 564, (1972); <u>Santosky v. Kramer</u>, supra; <u>Meyer v. Nebraska</u>, 262 U.S. 390, 399; <u>Lentsch v. Marshall</u>, 741 F. 2nd 301 (10 Cir.) (1984). The New York court, in opposition to the great majority of states and federal courts is clearly wrong!\*

<u>In re Medrano</u>, 956 F.2nd 101, 102, 1992 that court said:

A disbarment proceeding is adversarial and quasi-criminal in nature and the moving party bears the burden of proving all elements of a violation.

In the <u>Matter of Thalheim</u>, 853 F.2nd 383, (5th Cir. 1988), the court stated:

The notice of the allegations and the disbarment proceeding must satisfy the requirement of procedural Due Process.

<sup>\*</sup>If Florida decides the practice of law is a liberty interest, all argument should cease at that point because <u>undoubtedly</u>
New York's standard is unconstitutional.

And in Nasco, Inc. v. Calcasieu Television, 894 F. 2nd 696, (5th Cir.) (1990), the Court held:

A federal court might disbar an attorney only upon presentation of clear and convincing evidence.

All these cases reflect that when one considers the risk of error and the respondent's interest (the respondent practiced well and with integrity for 5-1/2 years from the time of the complaint until its final adjudication) the state's interest pales.

It is obvious from the line of cases that cases of a certain <u>nature</u> require a higher standard of proof than "preponderance" and failure to apply that higher standard or greater, violates the Due Process clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments and the Anglo-American standard of fairness. The risk of error is so great that the respondent submits it outweighs the other two interests recited in <u>Santosky</u>. In addition, a minimum standard is a question of <u>federal</u> law because it involves the U.S. Constitution Due Process clause.

## In Santosky, the court said:

In any given proceeding the minimum standard of proof tolerated by the due process requirement reflects not only the weight of the public and private interests but also a societal judgment about how the risk of error should be distributed between the litigant.

# And later in Santosky:

The minimum standard is a question of <u>federal</u> <u>law</u> which this Court may resolve retrospectively. Case-by-case review cannot preserve fundamental fairness when a class of proceedings is governed by a constitutionally defective evidentiary standard, pp. 754-57. A preponderance standard does not fairly allocate the risk of an erroneous finding.

In parental rights termination proceedings [which the <u>Santosky</u> case dealt with] which bear "many of the indicia of a criminal trial," numerous factors combine to magnify the risk of erroneous factfinding.

In re Medrano, 956 F. 2nd 101 (5th Cir.) 1992, the court stated:

A disbarment proceeding is adversarial and quasi-criminal in nature. (pp.102) An attorney may be disbarred only on presentation of clear and convincing evidence.

And in Nasco, Inc. v. Calcasieu, supra:

When it comes to determining what standard is proper, it is "the nature" of the proceeding which governs the standard to be employed.

It is submitted when one reads <u>Medrano</u> that a disbarment proceeding, considering its gravity, the loss of a livelihood, the stigma (private interests) and the governmental interest to protect the public puts a special focus on the risk of error. The respondent has been practicing without a complaint in the courts every day in a prolific practice in New York without incident. His life can be wiped out by the greater risk of error attendant to the

less exacting standard of "preponderance" and properly magnifies what 40 other states have done and 6 more states are on the road to doing, i.e., demanding "clear and convincing evidence" in such proceedings.

In Medrano, the court further stated that where the lesser standard is employed, the court must review the record de novo, Jaskiewicz v. Mossinghoff, 822 F. 2nd 1053, 1987 and apply the more exacting standard. California with the same standard as Florida's, did so in a final adjudication. Insofar as the classification of lawyer disbarment proceedings, we need not stop at Medrano or Jaskiewicz or California's decision but merely read the same case that New York relied on, namely, Addington, to see that New York is clearly wrong in deciding that the license is only a "property" interest. Further, Jaskiewicz, illustrates directly on point the correctness of respondent's argument in that Rule 3.4-6 cannot be applied to respondent even absent constitutional factors. Jaskiewicz stated flatly that "substantial evidence" is not the proper scope of review. Firstly, the court must determine if the standard applied was the standard that should apply. There the court stated that preponderance was not proper - it should have been clear and convincing evidence. It found that the evidence, in a de novo review did not meet that standard and dismissed.

On a de novo review under the Florida standard of proof this court will surely dismiss the Ramm charge.

To deprive a lawyer of his livelihood for five years (the

respondent here is near 71 years old) effectively disbars him, stigmatizes him and blots out his many years of a peerless reputation as a rabbi, teacher, lawyer and judge and has made his life probably not worth living. Compoundedly, the testimony against him was given by a party with an interest in winning a lawsuit which in her mind and in the mind of her live-in-lover, ex-husband, as corroborating witness, has been ruined by the respondent. It turned out, in fact, that the respondent successfully received a substantial settlement after her complaint was made.

Her testimony was vigorously denied by respondent, thus the pure question of credibility with the interest of the respondent weighed against the need to protect the public (the incident in 1987, the decision herein in 1993) being decided by a referee by a preponderance of evidence speaks for itself on the need to invoke the more exacting standard.

It is obvious that the risk of error in this case was overwhelmingly great. (The "proof is in the pudding" because the respondent is innocent!) It is no wonder that California summarily chose to reject New York's finding. California did not take New York's judgment lightly but iterated that in good conscience it could not accept the proof in the Ramm count. Almost all states, the federal courts and the ABA insist on the standard of "clear and convincing."

In New York, before the hearing an interrogation under oath was held of the complainant, the live-in-lover ex-husband and the

respondent each on separate occasions. The ex-husband was given the opportunity to read his ex-wife's testimony after driving her down to the hearing and after discussing it with her.

The respondent was never given the opportunity to read the transcript of their testimony until she and he testified at the hearing, thus he was surprised at her assertion that she had told him prior to the trial deposition that she had "reconstructed" the accident, as to what she did during the interval.

In New York, the respondent was not given the opportunity to depose the complainant and/or witness nor to attend their depositions, nor was he given notice of when they were to testify at what New York peculiarly calls not a deposition but a "Q and A" session.

Respondent submits this procedure in toto violates the Due Process clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

Netterville v. Mississippi, 347 So 2nd 878 p. 883.

Netterville is a case which involved only a private reprimand. However, that case held that lawyer disciplinary proceedings demand procedures of discovery (which are missing in New York) and thus it ruled Mississippi's procedure violative of Due Process. Further, that court found the standard of preponderance employed by the lower court, also violates Due Process. The Mississippi Bar conceded that the standard of proof should be higher than "preponderance" in temporary or permanent disbarment to pass constitutional muster, but that high court of Mississippi, as

stated above, wrote that even a reprimand is serious enough to demand the above measures in order to meet the requirements of Due Process and Anglo-American notions of fair play and substantial justice and insisted that Due Process also called for that <a href="https://doi.org/10.10/10.1

New York, under its own holdings, saw no need to fall back on its civil cases' fraud standards because New York in disciplinary proceedings has held that only the "preponderance" standard is the standard to be applied. Moreover, even in civil cases New York has held that dishonesty, perjury, subornation, etc. are different than fraud and are therefore subject to the standard of civil cases, namely, "preponderance". Again, in disciplinary cases, the standard of proof is solely "preponderance".

The fact that 40 states have outrightly rejected the "preponderance" standard in lawyer disciplinary proceedings is of no small import. Of those, 3 have already modified their positions in suspension or disbarment proceedings while <a href="Netterville">Netterville</a>, supra, applies the more exacting standard even in the case of a private reprimand. Two or three others have not

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