097

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complainant,

v.

SEYMOUR FRIEDMAN,

Respondent.

_____ /

Supreme Court Case
No. 82,536

The Florida Bar File
No. 93-00,503-02

FILED
SIDA WHITE
SEP 6 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

ALISA SMITH #794805
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
5900 N. Andrews Ave., Suite 835
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309
(305) 772-2245

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar contends that the referee's findings and recommendations submitted to this court should be upheld. Those findings are supported by the evidence and respondent has failed to demonstrate the report is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. Respondent's sole assertion before the referee was that R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6 should not apply because the disciplinary proceeding in New York was unconstitutional. The referee rejected this unsupported assertion and noted that respondent failed to show either an infirmity of proof of such a nature that the New York judgment should not be followed or some other reason not to accept the consequences of that judgment. Since respondent failed to establish that the foreign judgment was deficient, the referee properly applied Rule 3-4.6 and accepted New York's finding of misconduct as conclusive proof of guilt in the Florida disciplinary proceeding.

The paramount question presented to this Court for resolution concerns the application of Rule 3-4.6 in instances where the standard of proof in the foreign jurisdiction is less exacting than that required in Florida disciplinary cases. The Florida Bar posits that the sole inquiry to be made is whether the foreign judgment is reliable, not whether the standard of proof in the foreign jurisdiction differs from the standard applied in Florida.

There are several justifications and rationales for Rule 3-4.6. Foremost is the elimination of the necessity to retry the issue of guilt; to make unnecessary the production in Florida of testimony and evidence from a distant jurisdiction on the issue of guilt; and to fully protect the public.

The analysis suggested by The Florida Bar preserves the intent of Rule 3-4.6 whereas the approach advanced by respondent would require this Court

to evaluate the standard of proof utilized in foreign jurisdictions; determine whether that burden is less exacting than Florida's burden; treat foreign judgments differently based upon the standard of required proof; and ultimately to provide trials de novo in all cases wherein the standard of proof was less exacting than the clear and convincing standard required in Florida disciplinary cases, regardless of the reliability of the foreign judgment. Respondent's approach would subvert the intent and purpose of Rule 3-4.6 and create unnecessary controversy in many cases involving foreign judgments of misconduct. Further, The Florida Bar's suggested analysis fully protects respondent's rights in that respondents would have the opportunity to establish that the foreign judgment is so unreliable or deficient as to create an unjust result and therefore mandate a trial de novo on the facts.

Finally, it is important to note that the respondents have opportunity to fully litigate the disciplinary aspect of the process in all cases; therefore, they have the opportunity to explain their conduct and offer any mitigating factors. In the case at bar, respondent had the opportunity to demonstrate that the application of Rule 3-4.6 was not suitable, as well as to argue appropriate discipline to be imposed. Since respondent failed to show that the foreign judgment relied upon by the bar was either unreliable or deficient, although presented the opportunity to do so, Rule 3-4.6 should be applied to this case rather than have its clear meaning twisted in a manner never envisioned when this Court adopted the rule.

Regarding the issue of discipline, The Florida Bar asserts that the referee's recommendation is one that protects the public and is supported by the evidence. Therefore, it should be upheld.

I. ARGUMENT CONCERNING REFEREE'S REJECTION OF RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT THAT THE DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK VIOLATED HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS

The referee was provided numerous documents, affidavits and a memorandum of law by respondent to be considered along with the other pleadings relevant to this matter. Further, respondent was given the opportunity to argue, as he did, the deficiency of the underlying discipline imposed by New York and relied on by The Florida Bar to show conclusively that the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar have been violated by respondent. The referee read through the complaint, answer, memorandum with attachments and all other materials provided by the Bar and respondent prior to the February 14, 1994 final hearing. (T -3). Respondent's sole argument is that the underlying discipline imposed by New York is deficient because the standard of proof utilized by New York in disciplinary proceedings is not as exacting as the clear and convincing standard implemented in Florida's disciplinary process. See respondent's memorandum of law with attachments and (T-16-26). The referee rejected respondent's argument and found that "[i]n the instant proceeding, respondent failed to establish that the New York disciplinary proceedings were deficient or lacking in due process." (RR-4). The referee went on to state that the "[r]espondent failed to show either an infirmity of proof that the New York judgment should not be followed or some other reason not to accept the consequences of that judgment and no transcript of the New York proceedings was filed with this court." (RR-4-5).

In The Florida Bar v. Wilkes, 179 So. 2d 193, 198 (Fla. 1965), which concerned a lawyer that was disbarred in New York, the court determined, in

applying a rule similar to Rule 3-4.6 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, that "right and justice require that when the accused attorney shows that the proceeding in the foreign state was so deficient or lacking in notice or opportunity to be heard, that there was such a paucity of proof, or that there was some other grave reason which would make it unjust to accept the foreign judgment as conclusive proof of guilt of the misconduct involved, Florida can elect not to be bound thereby." The Court went on to emphasize in Wilkes that "the burden of showing why a foreign judgment should not operate as conclusive proof of guilt in a Florida disciplinary proceeding is on the accused attorney." Id. Respondent has failed to meet the Wilkes burden. Further, the referee's findings of fact or lack thereof is supported by the pleadings and record and therefore should be presumed correct. The Florida Bar v. Colclough, 561 So.2d 1147 (Fla. 1990). According to a myriad of case law, the findings of a referee will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Scott, 566 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 1990). Further, the burden is upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that the referee's report is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. Id. Respondent's exclusive assertion that his due process rights were violated by the standard of proof applied in the New York disciplinary process is not supported by the record of facts nor law. In fact, respondent concedes that New York has consistently upheld this standard as constitutional. (RB -9). See also Matter of Cappocia, 15 N.Y. 2nd 549; 466 N.Y.S. 2nd 269 (1983). Respondent states in his brief that "[i]t is noteworthy that the referee did not, as he stated, hear any witnesses, examine any evidence or read the New York transcripts but based his ruling solely on Rule 3-4.6 (RB-7)". It was respondent's burden to provide the proof to establish the deficiency of the

underlying proceeding. Therefore, Respondent may not attack the referee's findings which were based upon review of the available argument, pleadings and memorandum of law, and not solely on an analysis of Rule 3-4.6. Respondent's failure to provide the necessary witnesses, evidence and trial transcripts to support his argument should not inure to his benefit. Since respondent has not established that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous nor has he shown the underlying disciplinary finding to be deficient, respondent has failed to meet his burden of proof and the referee's findings should be upheld.

II. ARGUMENT CONCERNING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF NEW YORK'S STANDARD OF PROOF IN THE DISCIPLINARY PROCESS

Although the Bar's position regarding this issue overlaps with the previous argument, it is important to address, since respondent continuously asserts the unconstitutionality of the standard of proof in New York. First, the Bar contends that this issue is not properly before the Florida Supreme Court, per se. The Florida Supreme Court cannot rule that a sister state's burden of proof is unconstitutional and if it did rule in such a matter, this decision would have no impact upon the New York process. See Wilkes, 179 So. 2d at 198 wherein the court stated that "going behind the judgment of the sister state did not constitute a collateral attack on that judgment, for it cannot affect its result in the sister state." On the other hand, the importance of the constitutionality of the underlying disciplinary finding is the "effect which the [the court] will give that judgment in this state." Id. Therefore, The Florida Bar will presume that the respondent is relying on this latter argument when he states that the New York standard is unconstitutional.

The Florida Bar contends that the standard of proof utilized in the disciplinary process in New York, i.e., the preponderance standard, is not a violation of due process; therefore, constitutional. In a recent case before the Second District Court of Appeal in Florida, this argument regarding the unconstitutionality of the preponderance standard of proof in a license revocation proceeding in a foreign jurisdiction was rejected. Rife v. Dept. of Professional Reg'n, 19 Fla. L. Wkly D1097 (2 DCA 1994). In Rife, the Second District Court of Appeal found that several states employ a preponderance standard in [license revocation] cases and held that "[a]lthough there is a growing trend toward use of the more rigorous standard, it is apparent that such standard is not essential to satisfy due process under the U.S. Constitution." Id. The Florida Bar's contention is further supported by respondent's attachment of the Survey of National Organization of Bar Counsel on standards of proof which establishes that six states, including New York, have retained the preponderance standard. Finally, New York has upheld, against constitutional attack, its preponderance standard of proof. In re Cappocia 15 N.Y. 2nd 549 (NYC App. 1983). The Florida Bar agrees with the determination in Rife that the preponderance standard, utilized in six other foreign jurisdictions, is consistent with the due process provision of the U.S. Constitution.

Respondent relies on a series of federal court cases which label the disciplinary process "Quasi-Criminal" and have held that under certain circumstances the higher burden of clear and convincing evidence is more appropriate than that of the preponderance of the evidence standard. First, the Florida Supreme Court has rejected the label of "quasi-criminal" to the bar disciplinary process. In Rule 3-7.6(e)(1) of the Rules Regulating The

Florida Bar, the disciplinary process is defined as not civil or criminal but a quasi judicial administrative proceeding. Further, the Florida Supreme Court has expressly rejected the contention that bar proceedings were penal in nature. DeBock v. State, 512 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1987). In DeBock, the Florida Supreme Court held that bar disciplinary proceedings are remedial, and are designed for the protection of the public and the integrity of the courts. The function of the disciplinary process is to determine fitness to practice law, not to penalize. Based upon Florida's rejection that bar proceedings are penal in nature or quasi criminal, respondent's reliance on the federal court cases is misplaced and his argument meritless. In the alternative, the primary cases cited by respondent to support his contention that the more exacting or higher standard of proof is mandated thereby dismantling the New York disciplinary finding, are easily distinguished. First, Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418 (1979) concerns the standard of proof in civil proceedings brought under state law to commit an individual involuntarily for an indefinite period to a state mental hospital. Any analogy between the privilege to practice law and the bar disciplinary proceeding to the involuntary commitment proceeding espoused in Addington is misguided at best.

Next, respondent relies upon Matthews v. Elderidge 424 U.S. 319 (1974) and Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745 (1982). Respondent submits that these cases which concern the loss of livelihood (RB at p.11) are analogous to the practice of law as a liberty interest which would require the higher burden of proof thereby nullifying his underlying discipline which is based upon the lower standard. The Florida Supreme Court has consistently stated that "a license to practice law confers no vested right to the holder thereof, but is a conditional privilege which is revocable for cause." Rule

3-1.1 Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and cited in DeBock at p. 168. Further, the Florida Supreme Court went on to state in DeBock "that attorneys can be held to different standards than other regulated professions." The rationale for this holding is "the unique role of attorneys as officers of the court [which] mandates that attorneys be held to the highest of ethical standards. This difference has been recognized by centuries of jurisprudential thought and is manifested in article V, section 15 of our constitution." DeBock at p. 168. Although the Florida Supreme Court has imposed the higher burden of proof to bar disciplinary matters, this does not axiomatically mandate that lower standards are unconstitutional. The practice of law is a conditional privilege not a liberty interest.

III. ARGUMENT CONCERNING THE APPLICATION OF RULE 3-4.6 IN CASES IN WHICH ANOTHER JURISDICTION ADJUDICATES MISCONDUCT UTILIZING A LESS EXACTING STANDARD OF PROOF

It appears that the paramount ruling to be made by this court concerns the application of Rule 3-4.6 in the case at bar. This determination was one in which the referee obviously struggled and overtly enunciated his ambivalence in his report. The referee stated that "there is an apparent inconsistency in applying Rule 3-4.6 and Florida's standard of proof in disciplinary matters in circumstances where the standard in the foreign jurisdiction differs from that of Florida. More specifically, it is unclear whether Florida, in [disciplinary] proceedings where the standard is clear and convincing evidence, should accept a final adjudication of guilt from a court in another state when that finding is premised on a preponderance of the evidence standard." (RR-5-6)

Although it appears that this is an issue of first impression, there is support for the proposition that Rule 3-4.6 is applicable as long as the underlying adjudication of misconduct is reliable. In 1965, this Court rendered an opinion in Wilkes, 179 So. 2d at 193 wherein the application of rule 11.02(6) of the Integration Rule, 31 F.S.A. was determined. Rule 11.02(6) reads as follows:

Discipline by foreign jurisdiction. A final adjudication by a court or other authorized agency of another state in a disciplinary proceeding that an attorney licensed to practice in that state is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action should be considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding in this state.

The Rule applicable today at 3-4.6 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar is virtually identical with grammatical not substantive changes. Rule 3-4.6 states the following:

A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action shall be considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule.

The Florida Bar believes the Wilkes holding and rationale are applicable to Rule 3-4.6 because the substance of the provision is identical. The referee pronounces an "apparent inconsistency" in applying this Rule to a final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding when the standard of proof in the underlying proceeding is based upon a less exacting standard. The Florida Bar does not agree that there is an inconsistency. In Wilkes, this court explained the rationale for and effect of the rule concerning discipline by a

foreign jurisdiction. The Florida Supreme Court explained in Wilkes the following:

[4] By adopting Rule 11.02(6) we took a reasonable position between the two extremes By the plainest language the rule makes such a foreign judgment of guilt conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding in this state. Proof of guilt of the acts of misconduct adjudicated in the sister state is accomplished by simply proving the entry of the foreign judgment. This eliminates any necessity to retry the bare issue of guilt and makes unnecessary the production in Florida of testimony and evidence on this issue. The rule nether [sic] prescribes nor proscribes professional behavior. It relates solely to the question of proof of guilt.

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